SUPREME COURT

NO. 93492.4

Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 73147-5-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES HOPKINS, JR.,

Respondent,

v.

SEATTLE PUBLIC SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1,

Petitioner,

SEATTLE PUBLIC SCHOOL DISTRICT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

JEFFREY A. O. FREIMUND, WSBA #17384 AMANDA C. BLEY, WSBA # 42450 Freimund Jackson & Tardif, PLLC 711 Capitol Way South, Suite 602 Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 534-9960 Attorneys for Seattle School District No. 1

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Seattle Public School District No. 1 (the District), which was the defendant in the negligence action below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On July 18, 2016, the Court of Appeals reversed a jury verdict in the District's favor (Appendix 1). On July 21, 2016, the Court of Appeals *sua sponte* ordered publication of its opinion (Appendix 2).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. The Washington Pattern Jury Instructions (WPIs) are the product of decades of Washington appellate court decisions. See 6 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Civil (6th ed. 2012), at WPI 0.10. The jury was instructed using the standard WPI instructions on the duty of ordinary care. The Court of Appeals reversed the jury's verdict that the District met its duty of ordinary care because the jury did not receive additional instructions that (1) the District's duty of ordinary care arises from an in loco parentis relationship, and (2) the duty is limited to only risks of harm that are foreseeable. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals limiting duty instructions to a short, basic statement of the duty owed, without elaboration, or focus on the named defendant?

- B. Does the question of how to properly instruct a jury on the duty of ordinary care owed by school districts to students in their custody present an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court?
- C. Does the Court of Appeals' failure to analyze whether a perceived instructional error was harmless conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff James Hopkins, Jr. (Hopkins) and E.E. were students at the District's Aki Kurose Middle School. E.E. was a disabled student in a self-contained special education classroom for all classes except Physical Education (PE). On June 7, 2006, Hopkins and E.E. were walking in the boys' locker room after PE class when they bumped into each other and Hopkins called E.E. a "bitch." E.E. spun around and punched Hopkins once to the back of his head. Hopkins fell to the ground and broke his jaw. Hopkins claims the District negligently caused his injury. *Hopkins v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, Ct. App. No. 73147-5-I (Appendix 1), at pp. 1-2.

A. The Jury Was Told Hopkins' Theory of the Case

At the beginning of trial, the court used WPI 1.01.03 to instruct the jury on the parties' respective theories of the case:

The plaintiff, Mr. James Hopkins, whom you were

introduced to, claims that the Seattle Public School is at fault for injuries he sustained as a result of a June 2006 assault by a fellow middle school student whose initials are E.E. The plaintiff alleges Seattle Public School District owed a duty of reasonable care to protect him and breached this duty by failing to prevent E.E. from assaulting him in June 2006. He claims this breach of duty was a cause of the June 2006 assault and his injury.

Defendant public school district denies it breached a duty to use reasonable care to prevent ... student-to-student assaults. Seattle Public School District further denies that its alleged actions or failures to act caused the assault or plaintiff's injury. Seattle Public School District also denies the nature and extent of damages plaintiff claims were caused by the assault.

Flygare RP (1/21/15) 119-20.1

In his opening statement to the jury, Hopkins' attorney summarized Hopkins' theory of the case:

The school district has an obligation to protect all students from foreseeable harm. If they fail in their obligation to protect the student from foreseeable harm, the district is responsible for all the harm that is caused.

A school district must inform general education teachers when they have a special education student in their class, that the student has a history of violent conduct against other students. If they fail to do so and the disabled student harms another student, the district is responsible for all the harms and losses. ...

The district knew this kid was impulsive. They knew he erupted like this. And it was predictable. And if they had

¹ Due to the parties separately arranging for transcription of various portions of the trial, the Report of Proceedings (RP) was prepared by two different court reporters. Hopkins used Flygare & Associates (Flygare) to transcribe portions of the trial, and the District used Vernon & Associates (Vernon) to transcribe other portions. Both court reporters used a page numbering system that starts each day of the trial proceedings at page 1. Accordingly, the District cites to the RP by first identifying the court reporter - - i.e., Flygare RP, or Vernon RP - - followed by the date of transcription, then the page number - - e.g., Flygare RP (1/21/15) 119-20.

the right people there, this didn't need to happen. ...

And so at the end of this case, we're going to come back here and ... we're going to ask you to find that the district was negligent by failing to supervise a special ed kid.

Flygare RP (1/22/15) 27-28, 41, 53.

Hopkins' first witness was his liability expert, former Superintendent of Public Instruction Judith Billings. After going through several exhibits with Ms. Billings documenting the District's knowledge of E.E.'s history of assaultive behavior at school, Ms. Billings provided her opinion on whether the District breached the standard of care:

Q: ... Did you form an opinion about whether the Seattle School District failed in its obligations under the standards of care required of special educators?

A: Yes, because they failed to let the general education teacher know what was expected of him in terms of monitoring this student, that he needed to be closely monitored, what his history was, that he was to have a close eye kept on him. He was not given that information.

Q: Are there any other things the district could have done to fulfill their obligations in educating E.E.?

A: Because his IEP [Individualized Education Plan] indicates he was a child who acted out many times during passing periods, during lunch, before and after school, in basically unstructured situations, they could have had a para professional walk with him between passing periods. They could have had a security guard walk with him during passing periods. They could have made certain that he was always in the line of sight of some adult so that he was always under supervision. ...

Q: Do you have an opinion about why this happened?

A: It seems like this is just sort of a systemic breakdown. You know, the records for E.E. were not sent in a timely manner to Aki Kurose, so that he was in general education classes at Aki Kurose for the first two months of the year,

rather than in special education classes when, during that time he committed two assaults. When you look at the IEP that was then developed after they did get the records, they did not include the general education [PE] teacher, Mr. Kaiser, in their IEP meeting. They did not send him the information that, according to their own policies, they are required to send any teacher who is dealing with a ... special education student, to let them know what their responsibilities are....

Q: Would having more competent staff there, on a more probable than not basis, have prevented the assault on James Hopkins?

A: I believe it would have. ...

Q: Does it matter that he [E.E.] had never punched someone in a locker room before when you were forming your opinions about what happened in this case?

A: No. It doesn't make any difference. Because what the history shows from the time E.E. was in kindergarten, his behavior from that time through the incident in the locker room was of being - - pushing, shoving, assaulting, slapping, headlocks, you know, you name it. It was physical aggression.

Flygare RP (1/22/15) 130-31, 134, 161.

Hopkins' attorney also adduced testimony supporting their theory of the case from two District employees who Hopkins called as witnesses, E.E.'s PE teacher and the school principal. *E.g.*, *id.* at 173-77, 185-91; Flygare RP (1/26/15) 30-31, 39-40, 47. Hopkins' attorney adduced similar testimony during cross-examination of the District's standard of care expert, Maureen Davis. Vernon RP (B) (1/29/15) 42-47, 52-61.

In closing argument, Hopkins' attorney argued:

In from this door ... comes a boy named E.E. He's 14 years old. The district has known this kid since he was in

kindergarten. ... The district knew and had determined that this was a disabled child who had trouble controlling his impulses, who had assaulted 26 other kids in the district. They had come together and they had crafted a plan. ...

The plan said, we recognize that this child's disability affects his ability to control himself, that he is at risk for assaulting other kids and has done it over and over again.

... Take a close look at Exhibit 229. That was the IEP that was in place during this school year when this event happened to this young man. It said, we know of this kid, E.E.'s, verbally and physically assaultive behavior to peers. We will put in place systematic observations. ... They had a plan. They didn't follow their plan. ...

What else do you find in Exhibit 229? The IEP ... says we need to accommodate this student and make sure the student is prepared for transitions between classes. The way we do that is proximity. We need to stay close to this kid. The kid could erupt at any time. He's a ticking time bomb. Keep him under watch. ... But nobody was watching. No adult was watching him. ...

... Somebody let E.E. come into this locker room unsupervised, and he hit James Hopkins. The district's plan was acceptable. They just didn't follow it.

... Judith Billings, the former Superintendent of Public Instruction says the district's system failure set up a situation in which a disabled child with a known history of assaulting other kids was left unattended in a boys' locker room. That was unreasonable, according to Ms. Billings.

... But look at Exhibit 229. You be the judge of whether or not they did everything they could reasonably do to prevent this assault in this case.

Was the defendant negligent in this case when they failed to follow their own plan to watch this child to make sure that he was being monitored? Was that negligence? On a more probable than not basis, the answer is yes

Flygare RP (2/2/15) 83-84, 88, 91-92, 94, 98.

The attorney for the District similarly focused a portion of closing

argument on question 1 of the verdict form, which asked "Was the defendant negligent?"

They're claiming that the teachers at the Aki Kurose Middle School, where this assault happened, failed to prevent E.E. from assaulting the plaintiff. That's the negligent act that is being alleged. So you have to decide, did the teachers at Aki Kurose act negligently by failing to prevent this assault. That's what question 1 asks you.

Id. at 111. The District's attorney also acknowledged the assault was foreseeable: "E.E. has a bunch of assaults in his past. There's no dispute about that. Yeah, everybody knew that. It was in his IEP." *Id.* at 114. The District's defense was that E.E.'s IEP demonstrated a reasonable effort to prevent further assaults, and even if an adult had been supervising E.E. more closely, his sudden punch was not preventable. *Id.* at 113-19.

In his rebuttal closing argument, Hopkins' attorney reiterated, "But that fist doesn't fly if there is the appropriate and reasonable monitoring of this child. They've known he's a problem for a long time. ... [T]his history of his assaultive behavior suggested that leaving him unattended was not good enough." *Id.* at 129-30.

B. Jury Instructions and Objections to the Instructions

After hearing the court's introductory instruction on the parties' respective theories of the case, Hopkins' opening statement further describing his theory, and the testimony of several witnesses regarding

this theory, the court instructed the jury on what they had to decide. Question 1 on the verdict form required the jury to decide "Was the defendant negligent?" CP 1694. To aid the jury in answering this question, the court provided the standard WPI 21.03 elements of negligence instruction, which stated *inter alia* the plaintiff had the burden of proving "the defendant acted, or failed to act, in one of the ways claimed by the plaintiff and that in so acting, or failing to act, the defendant was negligent." CP 1672. Using WPI 20.01 and 20.05, the jury was instructed Hopkins was claiming "the defendant Seattle Public School District was negligent in failing to prevent E.E. from assaulting plaintiff." CP 1669.²

To aid the jury in determining whether the District "was negligent in failing to prevent E.E. from assaulting plaintiff" the jury was instructed using the standard WPI 10.01 that negligence is "the failure to exercise ordinary care. It is the doing of some act that a reasonably careful person would not do under the same or similar circumstances or the failure to do some act that a reasonably careful person would have done under the same or similar circumstances." CP 1673. The jury also received the standard WPI 10.02 definition of "ordinary care." CP 1674. *See* Appendix 3.

Hopkins proposed three instructions that paraphrased portions of WPI 10.01 and 10.02 and blended that language into partial paraphrases of

 $^{^{2}}$ The court's instructions to the jury and verdict form are attached hereto as Appendix 3.

a few appellate decisions (*see* Hopkin's proposed instructions 8, 9, and 10, quoted in Appendix 1, pp. 3-4). CP 949-51. The court heard argument on the parties' proposed instructions on the District's duty, and objections to each other's proposals. Vernon RP (A) (1/29/2015) 110-133; Flygare RP (2/2/2015) 25-54. Hopkins' counsel told the court they had no objection to the court's instruction number 8, which is the standard WPI 10.01 on the duty of ordinary care. Flygare RP (2/2/2015) 33. Hopkins' counsel did object to the court's instruction numbers 5 (the claims instruction) and 9 (WPI 10.02 definition of ordinary care). Flygare RP (2/2/2015) at 27-36.

C. The Jury's Verdict

The jury returned a verdict for the District, answering "No" to question one, which asked "Was the defendant negligent?" CP 1694-95.

D. The Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals reversed the jury's verdict. The Court of Appeals noted the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to give Hopkins' proposed instructions 8, 9 and 10. Appendix 1, p. 7 (suggesting these three instructions "contained more language than was appropriate"). However, the Court of Appeals ruled:

We hold the court erred in failing to give jury instructions on the special relationship [i.e., the "protective custody of teachers is mandatorily substituted for that of the parent"] and duty of the School District to exercise reasonable care to protect students from foreseeable harm. Because the

instructions given allowed the jury to apply an ordinary negligence standard without regard to the special relationship and duty of the School District, the error was not harmless and prevented Hopkins from arguing his theory of the case. We reverse and remand for a new trial.

Appendix 1, pp. 9, 11. Other than the above conclusory statement, the Court of Appeals provided no analysis explaining how Hopkins was prevented from arguing his theory of the case. *See id*.

V. ARGUMENT FOR ACCEPTING REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals

"Jury instructions are generally sufficient if they are supported by the evidence, allow each party to argue its theory of the case, and when read as a whole, properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law." *Fergen v. Sestero*, 182 Wn.2d 794, 803, 346 P.3d 708 (2015). If the instructions satisfy these conditions, "[n]o more is required." *Douglas v. Freeman*, 117 Wn.2d 242, 257, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991). "When these conditions are met, it is not error to refuse to give detailed augmenting instructions, nor to refuse to give cumulative, collateral or repetitious instructions." *Bodin v. City of Stanwood*, 130 Wn.2d 726, 732, 927 P.2d 240 (1996).

Washington courts apply a less is more approach to instructing lay juries. "It has, for some years, been the policy of our Washington system of jurisprudence, in regard to the instruction of juries, to avoid ... slanted

instructions, formula instructions, or any instruction other than those which enunciate the basic and essential elements of the legal rules necessary for a jury to reach a verdict." *Laudermilk v. Carpenter*, 78 Wn.2d 92, 100, 457 P.2d 1004 (1969) (affirming use of standard ordinary care instructions).

The WPIs implement this less is more approach. "The Washington Pattern Jury Instructions are an immense aid to the bench and bar in selecting appropriate jury instructions.... They are to be used in preference to individually drafted instructions, but are not absolutely required." Humes v. Fritz Cos., 125 Wn. App. 477, 498, 105 P.3d 1000 (2005).

1. The Court of Appeals' Decision that Reversible Error Occurs If Juries Are Instructed Only that School Districts' Owe a Duty of Ordinary Care Conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Decisions, and with the WPIs

The Comments to WPI 10.01 (negligence definition) state: "Generally the jury should be instructed that the standard of care to be applied in a negligence action is the care that a reasonably careful person would take under the circumstances, rather than the care a particular defendant should have exercised in a given circumstance." The Comments to WPI 10.04 expressly discourage providing any additional instructions on the duty of ordinary care, stating the "subject is adequately covered by WPI 10.02 [ordinary care]... and WPI 21.02 [the elements instruction]."

The Comments to WPI 10.01 recommend using duty instructions different than WPI 10.01 and 10.02 only in cases in which defendants are held to a particularized standard of conduct, such as professionals owing a duty to use that degree of skill, care, diligence and knowledge used by reasonably careful professionals in that field. Special instructions for particularized duties of care are set forth in Part IX of the WPIs. There are no particularized instructions for the duty school districts owe to students in Part IX. The Comments to WPI 10.01 state: "It is error to give WPI 10.01 in combination with a standard of care of instruction involving a duty other than ordinary care without explaining the applicability of each instruction to the jury. Such instructions are inconsistent if given in combination and may mislead the jury as to the correct standard of care."

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this guidance by holding it was reversible error to give only ordinary care instructions because "the instructions given allowed the jury to apply an ordinary negligence standard without regard to the special relationship and duty of the School District" Appendix 1, p. 11. Washington courts have long held that in supervising students, school districts owe students a duty of ordinary care. *E.g.*, *Briscoe v. Sch. Dist. 123*, 32 Wn.2d 353, 362, 201 P.2d 697 (1949) (in the supervision of students, school districts are "required to exercise such care as an ordinarily reasonable and prudent

person would exercise under the same or similar circumstances"); *Kok v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10*, 179 Wn. App. 10, 18, 317 P.3d 481 (2013), *rev. denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1016 (2014) (same). WPIs 10.01 and 10.02 fully instruct a jury on this duty of ordinary care.

The Court of Appeals suggests a duty different than, or in addition to, ordinary care was imposed on school districts in *McLeod v. Grant County Sch. Dist. No. 128*, 42 Wn.2d 316, 255 P.2d 360 (1953). *See* Appendix 1, p. 10 (stating *McLeod*, not *Kok*, is the leading authority on school districts' duty). Yet, the *McLeod* court cited the *Briscoe* court's ordinary care analysis with approval. *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 319-20. Several Court of Appeals decisions also cite *Briscoe* and *McLeod* for the proposition that school districts owe a duty of ordinary care to students in their custody. *E.g., Peck v. Siau*, 65 Wn. App. 285, 292-93, 827 P. 2d 1108, *rev. denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1005 (1992); *J.N. v. Bellingham Sch. Dist.*, 74 Wn. App. 49, 57, 871 P.2d 1106 (1994); *Kok*, 179 Wn. App. at 18.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with these authorities in holding prejudicial error occurred by not adding an instruction that school districts have a special relationship with students in their custody. Appendix 1, pp. 9-11. The special relationship forms the legal basis for imposing the duty of ordinary care; it does not modify the duty of ordinary care, or add other elements to the duty. Such an instruction would

unnecessarily explain to the jury the underlying legal analysis for why courts have determined, as a matter of law, that school districts owe a duty of ordinary care to students. *See id.* This type of augmenting instruction conflicts with the less is more approach espoused in *Bodin, Laudermilk,* and the WPIs, and could mislead juries. Supreme Court review is appropriate to resolve this conflict with existing law. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1).

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