RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

#### No. 93492-4

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### JAMES HOPKINS, JR., an individual,

Respondent,

v.

#### SEATTLE PUBLIC SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1,

Petitioner.

# HOPKINS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kyle Olive, WSBA #35552 Olive | Bearb Law Group PLLC 1218 Third Ave., Suite 1000 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 629-9909 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Sidney Tribe, WSBA #33160 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Ave. SW, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondent James Hopkins, Jr.



#

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

#### C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

(1) <u>The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that the Trial</u> <u>Court Erred in Failing to Instruct the Jury on the District's</u> <u>Special Relationship with Hopkins and Foreseeability</u>

education plan ("IEP") specifically required placement into a "self contained classroom." CP 237. His behavior needed to be monitored and addressed in the hallway, cafeteria, gymnasium, anywhere "on and off school grounds." CP 257. Despite this plan, in January 2006, E.E. was again suspended for assault. CP 264. Shortly after returning from suspension, he assaulted Hopkins. CP 269.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Prior to the assault, Kaiser was never informed by the District that E.E. had a pattern of assaulting other students. CP 1257. Kaiser received E.E.'s file, but he had "60 kids that I'm responsible for" and did not remember learning that E.E. had a violent history. RP 1/26/15 at 27. Kaiser also noted that there are many behaviorally disturbed students of widely varying behaviors and issues. *Id.* The principal of the school at the time, BiHoa Caldwell, testified that it was a mistake to not have informed Kaiser about E.E.'s past violent conduct against other students. RP 1/26/15 at 40.

As a preliminary matter, the District argued below that Hopkins failed to preserve instructional error as to the failure to give his proposed instructions 8, 9, 10 for appellate review because those proposed instructions contained more language than was appropriate. Br. of Resp't at 20-23. The Court of Appeals rejected that contention. Op. at 7-8. The District does complain about the wording of Hopkins' proposed instructions, but its complaints are raised largely in n.3 to its petition at 16.<sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly rejected the District's procedural complaint particularly where the District specifically stated below that Hopkins' proposed instructions correctly stated the law, but contained unnecessarily "detailed elaborations." Br. of Resp't at 21. The Court of Appeals' decision was consistent with this Court's decision in *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 748, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013). Review on this mere procedural point is unwarranted. RAP 13.4(b).

(a) <u>School Districts Owe a Special Protective Duty to</u> <u>Students under Their Care Arising Out of the</u> <u>Students' Mandatory Attendance</u>

The District deliberately understates the duty it owed to students like Hopkins under its care as a result of compulsory attendance laws. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court should disregard such an argument. *Public Util. Dist. No. 2 of Pacific Cty. v. Comcast of Wash. IV, Inc.*, 184 Wn. App. 24, 84 n.49, 336 P.3d 65 (2014), *review denied*, 183 Wn.2d 1015 (2015) (court disregards argument in footnote because placement of issue in footnote makes it ambiguous as to whether it is part of party's argument).

District would have this Court ignore its prior precedents on the special relationship between districts and students and focus solely on a duty of ordinary care. Pet. at 11-14. The District fails to document any error in the Court of Appeals' treatment of the District's special relationship with Hopkins. Op. at 9-10.

v...

As the Court of Appeals noted, this Court has long recognized the existence of a special relationship between a school district and its students that obligates the district to anticipate reasonably foreseeable dangers and protect students in its custody from such dangers. In *Briscoe v. School District No. 123, Grays Harbor County*, 32 Wn.2d 353, 362, 201 P.2d 697 (1949),<sup>5</sup> a case involving injuries to a student at the hands of fellow students in a game on school grounds during the afternoon recess, the Court stated that a school stands *in loco parentis* to a student where the student must by law be at school. This Court again discussed a school district's special duty in *McLeod v. Grant County School Dist. No. 128*, 42 Wn.2d 316, 320, 255 P.2d 360 (1953), where it noted that a District's custodial role imposes a duty of "special application" to prevent third

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This broad duty was articulated by this Court even earlier than *Briscoe. See, e.g., Gattavara v. Lundin*, 166 Wash. 548, 554, 7 P.2d 958 (1932) (district owed duty where it allowed cars to traverse school grounds during school hours); *Rice v. School Dist.* 302, 140 Wash. 189, 248 Pac. 388 (1926) (live electric wire).

persons from harming students, citing the *Restatement (Second) of Torts*, § 320. *Id.* at 322.

This Court has reaffirmed this heightened duty of school districts to students in recent cases as well. In *Christensen v. Royal School Dist. No. 160*, 156 Wn.2d 62, 67, 124 P.3d 283 (2004), the Court reaffirmed the special relationship between the school and its students arising out of the student's mandatory attendance at school, describing a school district's duty to the students in its custody as "an enhanced and solemn duty" to protect them.

Very recently, in *N.L. v. Bethel School Dist.*, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_, 2016 WL 4573928 (2016), this Court upheld the Court of Appeals' reversal of a summary judgment in the district's favor, holding that the district had a duty to a student who was sexually assaulted off school grounds by a fellow student who was a registered sex offender. The Court noted that the sex offender/student's lengthy history of school discipline and interactions with the criminal justice system for illicit sexual conduct, known to the district, and the district's failure to have a policy in place for the monitoring/supervision of student sex offenders were relevant to the breach of the District's duty to the plaintiff. The Court reaffirmed the special duty principles set forth in *McLeod* and *Briscoe*, ruling that the sex offender/student's dangerousness made the ultimate assault on the plaintiff conduct that was well within the general field of danger for which the district was responsible, even though the plaintiff was assaulted off-campus.

The Court of Appeals decision here is also consistent with J.N. By & Through Hager v. Bellingham School Dist. No. 501, 74 Wn. App. 49, 871 P.2d 1106 (1994), a case remarkably similar to the present case,<sup>6</sup> a first grade student was repeatedly sexually assaulted by a fourth grade student on school grounds in the boys' rest room. The Court of Appeals reversed summary judgment for the school district, stating: "[W]here the disturbed, aggressive nature of a child is known to school authorities, proper supervision requires the taking of specific, appropriate procedures for the protection of other children from the potential for harm caused by such behavior." *Id.* at 60. The district there had ample notice of the violent history of the student who committed the assaults, even though it did not have notice of the student's specific violent behavior, a fact important to the trial court. *Id.* at 56.

Thus, the District here had a clear-cut duty under Washington law arising out of its special relationship with Hopkins. That duty was not simply to do what an ordinary "reasonably careful person" would do under similar circumstances, as it has argued throughout its petition. Rather, it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> J.N. was cited with approval in N.L.

was specific to the District's special relationship with Hopkins. That duty mandated that the District anticipate reasonable foreseeable dangers and to take appropriate steps to protect students like Hopkins, who was involuntarily in the District's custody from such dangers.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the trial court erred in giving its "ordinary care" instruction to the jury<sup>7</sup> and in failing to give Hopkins' proposed instructions 8 and 9 that would have properly instructed the jury on the District's special duty to students like Hopkins. Hopkins' proposed instructions 8 and 9 accurately reflect the law in Washington derived from cases like *Briscoe*, *McLeod*, *Christensen*, *N.L.*, *and J.N.*, and those instructions should have been given to the jury here, as the Court of Appeals held. Op. at 9-10. *See* Appendix.

The trial court's duty instructions did not include any explanation of the District's duty to prote<u>ct</u> Hopkins. They did not explain the District's special involuntary custodial relationship with Hopkins giving rise to its duty to anticipate reasonably foreseeable danger to him such as that posed by E.E. The District had a duty, as articulated in Hopkins

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Instead of instructing the jury in the language of the case law arising from the District's special protective relationship with Hopkins, the trial court chose to instruct the jury only in the general negligence language of WPI 10.01.

proposed instructions 8 and 9, to anticipate harm to him and to address it.<sup>8</sup> The trial court's ordinary care instruction nowhere speaks to this anticipatory duty.

Also, the District's duty here went beyond ordinary care. Uninformed of the District's heightened duty, a juror may not think it is "reasonable" to exercise constant monitoring and supervision over another person. Yet that is exactly the duty the District had here. The jury should have been informed of the applicable special duty the District owed Hopkins, as the Court of Appeals determined. In instructing the jury merely on the District's ordinary care, the trial court misstated the law and deprived Hopkins of the opportunity to argue his theory of the case.<sup>9</sup>

The trial court's Instructions 8 and 9 on ordinary care here made no mention at all of any anticipatory duty on the District's part.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In *Quynn v. Bellevue School District*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, \_\_ P.3d \_\_\_, 2016 WL 4507470 (2016) at \*6, Division I made this point even clearer:

The school district had a duty to "reasonably anticipate" and "take precautions" to prevent harms falling "within a general field of danger which should have been anticipated." *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 321. Instruction 15 did not tell the jury this. Instead, Instruction 15 told the jury that the district was required to react after the fact to preclude recurrences of tortious behavior.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A court commits prejudicial error if it erroneously instructs the jury on the law. Barrett v. Lucky Seven Saloon, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 259, 266-67, 96 P.3d 386 (2004); Fergen v. Sestro, 182 Wn.2d 794, 802-03, 346 P.3d 708 (2015). Contrary to the District's assertion in its petition at 18-19, Hopkins was deprived of the opportunity to argue his theory of the case by the absence of that instruction, contrary to the District's contention. Pet. at 2-6. Nowhere in any of the record passages cited there was there any indication that Hopkins could advise the jury of the District's special relationship with Hopkins or its duty to anticipate harm to him.

The District seeks to justify its contention that this Court should grant review in two ways. First, it argues that the simple WPI ordinary care instruction – Instruction 9 – accurately reflects its duty here. Pet. at 11-14.<sup>10</sup> In that assertion it is mistaken. As noted *supra*, it is oblivious to the many decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals noting the special relationship between districts and their students.

Moreover, despite its assertion that only a simple instruction on ordinary care was necessary, the District *nowhere* discusses Instruction 17 on mainstreaming E.E. The District's entire argument (articulated in its petition at 11-12) that an ordinary care instruction should not be accompanied by any other duty instruction, is undercut by the very fact that it had the benefit of an instruction that elaborated upon its duty that it could readily argue to the jury. The District was allowed to argue *its theory of the case* – its ordinary care duty was tempered by a legal duty to keep E.E. in school. *See*, *e.g.*, RP 2/2/15 at 115. On the other hand, Hopkins' counsel's hands were tied. They could not tell the jury of the District's special relationship to Hopkins.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The District implies that a WPI instruction is invariably a correct statement of the law. *E.g.*, pet. at 1, 11. That contention is belied by the numerous appellate decisions finding pattern instructions erroneous. As the court in *State v. Hayward*, 152 Wn. App. 632, 645, 217 P.3d 354 (2009) noted: "...WPICs are not the law; they are merely persuasive authority." Pattern instructions must give way to controlling law. *Id.* at 646.

Further, contrary to its contention that the Court of Appeals' reiteration of the well-established special relationship law will somehow be of concern for all school districts, pet. at 16-17, such a requirement is fully supported in Washington law. Indeed, in other settings where the duty of care arises out of a special relationship, such a relationship is discussed with the jury. For example, the relationship of common carrier to passenger, much akin to the relationship of districts to students, is but one. *See, e.g.*, WPI 110.01; *Yurkovich v. Rose*, 68 Wn. App. 643, 847 P.2d 925 (1993).

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the District's special relationship to Hopkins, well-established by *numerous* decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

> (b) <u>The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Instruct the Jury</u> <u>That the District Had a Duty to Anticipate</u> <u>Reasonably Foreseeable Dangers and Safeguard</u> <u>Hopkins From Them While He Was in Its Care</u>

As a specific feature of the District's special relationship with students under its care by mandatory attendance laws, the District had a duty to safeguard students like Hopkins from foreseeable risks of harm. The *McLeod* court made foreseeability an element of a school district's duty to a student for harm occasioned by third persons.<sup>11</sup> Among the foreseeable risks to students are intentional torts.<sup>12</sup>

The trial court refused to give Hopkins proposed instruction number 10 on the District's duty to protect Hopkins from foreseeable risks. *See* Appendix. The Court of Appeals properly held that this was prejudicial error. Op. at 9-11. That court correctly discerned that this Court's decisions in *Briscoe* and *McLeod mandated* that a school district anticipate dangers to students under its care and take appropriate precautions to protect students from those risks of harm. *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 320. The appellate courts have consistently reaffirmed this principle as recently as this Court did in *N.L.* when it held "that districts have a duty of reasonable care toward the students in their care to protect

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Harm is foreseeable if the risk from which it results was known or in the exercise of reasonable care should have been known. *Travis v. Bohannon*, 128 Wn. App. 231, 238, 115 P.3d 342 (2005). The occurrence is not foreseeable only when it is "so highly extraordinary or improbable as to be wholly beyond the range of expectability." *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 323.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In *McLeod*, this Court found a school district potentially breached its duty to a student raped by other students in an unlocked, unsupervised room under the playing field bleachers. *Id.* at 318. The Court noted that the question was not whether the school should have anticipated forcible rape by 12-year-olds, but whether a "darkened room under the bleachers might be utilized during periods of unsupervised play for acts of indecency between schools boys and girls." *Id.* at 322. In other words, "the pertinent inquiry is not whether the actual harm was of a particular kind which was expectable. Rather, the question is whether the actual harm fell within a general field of danger which should have been anticipated. *Id.* at 321. Safeguarding children from the general danger would have protected the rape victim from the particular harm. *Id.* In such a context, the intentional misconduct of third parties is considered foreseeable despite the fact that there was no allegation of prior misconduct of a similar nature by the offending student.

them from foreseeable dangers that could result from a breach of the district's duty." *N.L.*, *supra*.

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